# Possible lethal effects of CS tear gas on Branch Davidians during the FBI raid on the Mount Carmel compound near Waco, Texas April 19, 1993

Prepared for

The Office of Special Counsel

John C. Danforth

by

Prof. Dr. Uwe Heinrich

Hannover, Germany September, 2000

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 1. Introduction

- 1a. Questions of the OSC and author responsibility
- 1b. Background
- 1c. Summary Conclusions

#### 2. o-chlorobenzylidene malonitrile (CS)

- 2a. Chemistry of CS
- 2b. Metabolites/reaction products of CS in the mammalian organism

#### 3. Toxicity of CS

- 3a. Animal experiments: general remarks
- 3b. Toxicology of aerosol inhalation
- 3c. Animal experiments: toxicity data
- 3d. Toxicity data in humans

## CS concentration and exposure scenarios in the Mount Carmel complex, Waco

# 5. Was there a higher risk of Branch Davidians to die because of the CS exposure?

- 5a. Adult exposure
- 5b. Child exposure
- 5c. Multiple chemical exposure

#### 6. Conclusion

#### 7. Appendices

Biographical resumé

## Figures:

- 1. RM27/1
- 2. RM27/0.5
- 3. RM5
- 4. RM7
- 5. RM19
- 6. RM30/2

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1a. Questions of the OSC and author responsibility

The Office of Special Counsel retained me on December 2, 1999, to evaluate the toxicological effects of CS gas on individuals inside the Branch Davidian complex on April 19, 1993. Specifically, the Office of Special Counsel asked me to determine: (1) whether CS gas killed or contributed to the death of any Branch Davidians on April 19, 1993; and (2) whether the interaction of CS and methylene chloride (MC) gas killed or contributed to the death of any Branch Davidian on April 19, 1993.

I, Dr. Uwe Heinrich, Professor of Toxicology and Aerosol Research, Hannover Medical School, and Director of the Fraunhofer Institute of Toxicology and Aerosol Research, Hannover, Germany, compiled this report, acting as a private consultant to the Office of Special Counsel. The statements made here are my responsibility; no responsibility is therefore attached to the Fraunhofer Institute of Toxicology and Aerosol Research, to the Fraunhofer Society for the Advancement of Applied Research, or to the Hannover Medical School. My biographical resumé is appended.

#### 1b. Background

On April 19, 1993, the FBI used the riot control agent CS (o-chlorobenzylidene malononitrile) to induce a group of Branch Davidians living near Waco, Texas to leave their residence. The CS tear gas was inserted into the building in 4 distinct phases in the time period from 6.00 a.m. until shortly after noon. CS was sprayed into the building through holes created by Government CEVs and by firing small non-explosive dart-like CS-containing projectiles into the windows and/or broken walls. Shortly after noon, a fire developed which ultimately destroyed the entire compound. Nine people escaped from the residence during the course of the fire, but more than 75 others, including 28 children, died inside the building.

#### 1c. Summary Conclusions

o-chlorobenzylidene malononitrile (CS), a strong irritating riot control agent, was inserted into the Branch Davidian Mount Carmel compound near Waco, Texas, to induce the inhabitants to leave the building. The insertion of CS started at 6.00 a.m. on April 19, 1993. Shortly after noon fire broke out and destroyed the whole compound. Seventy-five Branch Davidians, including 28 children, died inside the building. The question arose whether CS gas or the interaction of CS and methylene chloride (MC) killed or contributed to the deaths of the Branch Davidians. I was asked by the OSC to answer this question and I prepared a report that tried to do so. My report is based on numerous documents and scientific literature provided to me by the OSC, on my own literature research, and on the report of Dr. Havens for the OSC on the CS and MC exposure scenario which might have occurred in the various rooms of the Mount Carmel building. The possible effects of methylene chloride on the group of Branch Davidians staying in the Mount Carmel compound on April 19, 1993, are dealt with in Dr. George Lucier's report to the OSC.

There are various preparations of CS and various techniques to make CS airborne in an inhalable form. In Waco, a solution of CS in MC, contained in non-explosive projectiles and CO<sub>2</sub> pressurized canisters, was used to insert the CS. Dispersed as droplets from this fluid, fine particles of crystalline CS emerged after instantaneous evaporation of MC.

Experimental animals were exposed to CS to get information on toxic and lethal effects of CS. Most of these experiments reported in the literature were already conducted 30 - 40 years ago when there were no OECD and Good Laboratory Practice guidelines for standardized toxicity tests in experimental animals. Furthermore, only one of these studies used MC/CS and the toxic potency of the various CS preparations (pulverized CS, molten CS, CS from thermal grenades) including CS dissolved in methylene chloride (MC/CS) was mostly different.

Even with the calculation of a human equivalent CS concentration to consider the species-specific differences in the anatomy and physiology of the respiratory tract, the toxic and lethal effects of inhaled CS reported from the various animal experiments are only of limited meaning for the evaluation of possible toxic and lethal effects in MC/CS-exposed humans. There are no reports on human death related to CS exposure.

In this report, the calculation of the possible lethal concentration of MC/CS for humans is namely based on the experiment with MC/CS and micropulverized CS in rodents and with micropulverized CS in monkeys. MC/CS and micropulverized CS appeared to have similar toxic potency in animal experiments.

Comparing the CS concentration that led to early mortality in experimental animals with one of the worst CS exposure scenarios calculated for the Mount Carmel compound shows that these concentrations differ only by a factor of 5 - 10 and for the most sensitive guinea pig even by a factor below 5. Because of the well-known reduction of the breathing volume of rodents exposed to irritating agents which was not considered when calculating the human equivalent concentration, these safety factors may be even lower. Due to the higher minute ventilation in relation to the lung size, the normalized CS deposition rate in children is higher than in adults, resulting in more pronounced toxicity in children compared to adults exposed to the same CS concentration. This means that children were at higher risk to experience lethal effects from the worst calculated CS exposure scenario which might have occurred in the Mount Carmel building.

Based on the available data on toxic and lethal effects of the CS and considering the worst exposure scenario at Waco, there is a distinct possibility that this kind of CS exposure can significantly contribute to or even cause lethal effects. This statement only holds true, however, if the inhabitants were not able to leave such a worst exposure scenario despite the very irritating and burning effects of CS or were not able to protect themselves sufficiently by wearing a gas mask. As death does not occur immediately after short-term CS

inhalation exposure in animal experiments but only after some time, it can be assumed that other factors (e.g. the fire) could have also contributed to the death of the Mount Carmel inhabitants.

#### 2. o-chlorobenzylidene malononitrile (CS)

#### 2a. Chemistry of CS

CS is the short name for o-chlorobenzylidene malononitrile, which was developed by Carson and Staughton in 1928. C and S are surname initials of Carson and Staughton. CS is the condensation product of chlorobenzaldehyde with malononitrile and its molecular weight is 188.6.

CS is a white crystalline product with a melting point of 94 ° Celsius and a boiling point of 310 - 315 ° Celsius. CS is soluble in organic solvents. In methylene chloride (MC) at room temperature, the solubility of CS is approximately 39 % by weight; in acetone, the solubility is approximately 42 % (Edgewood Arsenal Technical Report 4301, Weimer et al. 1969).

The solubility of CS in water, on the other hand, is very low ( $2 \times 10^{-4} \, \text{M}$ ). CS is hydrolyzed in water and the products of this hydrolysis are ochlorobenzaldehyde and malononitrile. Hydrolysis means the cleavage of a molecule, in this case CS, by the addition of water. Hydrolysis is important in toxicology and is catalyzed by a large number of different hydrolytic enzymes. Because of this process, the amount of CS in water or water-containing fluids is reduced by 50 % within 14 minutes at pH 7.4 and 25 ° Celsius, or within 0.17 minutes at pH 11.4 and 25 ° Celsius. The time required to reduce the amount of a substance by 50 % is called the half-life of this substance. In acid solutions of pH 4 and below, CS is quite stable. The watery lining fluid of the respiratory tract has a pH value of approx. 7, but inside the organelles of the alveolar macrophages (cells that take up material deposited on the surface of the alveoli), the pH is between 4 and 5. The normal decomposition of CS produces CN,  $C_2H_2$ , HCl,  $NO_x$ , CO, COCl<sub>2</sub>, and  $N_2O$ .

Preparations of CS used to generate CS-containing atmospheres are the following: (1) CS melted and sprayed in the molten form; (2) spraying of CS dissolved in methylene chloride (10 %) or in acetone (5 %); (3) dispersion of CS2 as dry powder [CS2 is a siliconized, micropulverized form of CS with improved flow properties and greater weather resistance (95 % micropulverized CS with silica (Cab-o-sil) treated with hexamethyldisilazone); this mixture prevents agglomeration, increases flowability and also markedly increases hydrophobicity]; and (4) dispersion of CS from thermal grenades by generation of hot gases. The particle size (mass median diameter) of the CS aerosol generated from MC/acetone solution, by spraying melted CS or firing thermal grenades is reported to be in the range of 0.5 - 2  $\mu$ m. Particle size can vary depending on the generated droplet size of the dispersed fluid and in respect of powders on the micronization process used.

#### 2b. Metabolites/reaction products of CS in the mammalian organism

When CS comes into contact with body fluids, it is quickly broken down. CS reacts very rapidly with plasma proteins and more slowly with water. CS is also metabolized in the organism. In toxicology, metabolization refers to the enzymatic transformation of xenobiotics (foreign substances), resulting in products that may be less toxic than the parent compound [this is the case for the CS metabolites except hydrogen cyanide (HCN)] or more toxic than the parent compound. CS is metabolized to o-chlorobenzyl malononitrile (CSH<sub>2</sub>), o-chlorobenzaldehyde, o-chlorohippuric acid, and thiocyanate. Presence of these metabolites in the body is a strong indicator of CS exposure. Compared to CS, CSH<sub>2</sub> showed 60 % reduced toxicity and about 15-fold lower irritancy. Metabolites like CSH<sub>2</sub> were also found after inhalation exposure and not only after intravenous, intraperitoneal or intragastric application of CS. Ochlorobenz-aldehyde is further metabolized to o-chlorobenzoic acid. The major metabolite detectable in the rat is o-chlorohippuric acid. The less toxic thiocyanate is formed from cyanide derived from malononitrile (Stern et al. 1952). Thiocyanate was found in urine of exposed animals and man, also after inhalation exposure. CS also reacts quite rapidly with sulfhydryl groups (-SH), in cysteine, glutathione and in this way, enzymes in the body containing -SH

groups may be inhibited. Also, lipoic acid, important for the metabolism of the surface active agent (surfactant) covering the alveoli, reacts rapidly with CS. The half-life of CS and CSH<sub>2</sub> in blood is 5.5 and 9 seconds respectively, meaning that the time available to exert harmful systemic effects if rather short.

#### 3. Toxicity of CS

#### 3a. Animal experiments: general remarks

Most of the toxicity tests with experimental animals after intravenous, intraperitoneal, intragastric, inhalational and ocular application of CS were done 30 - 40 years ago and were not published in peer-reviewed scientific literature. These studies did not follow OECD guidelines for toxicity testing and were not conducted according to Good Laboratory Practice (GLP). Various animal species were exposed by inhalation to different preparations and concentrations of this strongly irritative CS agent to obtain information on dose levels at which toxicity effects may start to occur, how the dose-response curve may look, and what kind of toxic lesions may develop. Two of the more recent studies were published in 1983 by Marrs et al. and in 1990 by the National Toxicology Program (NTP) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Both studies focus on repeated exposure and subchronic and chronic toxicity/carcinogenicity of CS in rodents after inhalation exposure.

These early animal and exposure data were used to evaluate the CS concentrations needed to effectively control riot activities without harming those exposed. Based on controlled human studies, the concentration of CS which is intolerable in one minute to 50 % of those exposed is in the range of 0.1 - 10 mg/m<sup>3</sup>. This intolerability is caused by a strong irritation and burning sensation especially in the respiratory tract and eyes

Toxicity tests in experimental animals also include the application of doses that result in mortality in some of the exposed animals. Based on these data, the concentration or dose of the test substance that leads to 50 % mortality of the treated animals can be calculated. The LD50 (Lethal Dose 50 %) or LC50

(Lethal Concentration 50 %) is the dose in mg/kg b.w. or the concentration (mg/m³) in inhalation experiments where 50 % of an exposed group of animals will die. LD50/LC50 is not a constant that indicates how toxic a substance is, it is merely a statistical expression that describes the lethal effect of a substance under certain experimental circumstances.

In general, it is difficult and rather uncertain to extrapolate the LD50/LC50 of a substance from one animal species to another. Extrapolation from one group to another of the same species is also difficult when the experimental conditions are not exactly the same.

#### 3b. Toxicology of aerosol inhalation

This uncertainty with species extrapolation is especially high when the test substance is an aerosol (airborne particle or droplet) tested in inhalation studies because the amount of an aerosol deposited and retained in the respiratory tract after inhalation exposure is very different among various animal species and man. The dose of an inhaled aerosol that is responsible for a certain effect is not the inhaled aerosol concentration in  $\mu$ g/I or  $\mu$ g/I or  $\mu$ g/I or mg/m³ but the amount of aerosol that remains in the respiratory tract after inhalation.

The deposition of an inhaled aerosol in the respiratory tract very much depends on the aerodynamic size of the aerosol and on the anatomy of the respiratory tract. For example, the length and diameter of the air-conducting structures significantly affects the type of air flow and the flow velocity of the inhaled air in these structures. It is no wonder that the deposition efficiency levels of aerosols in the respiratory tract are quite different for example in rodents than in dogs, monkeys, and humans. This means the inhalation exposure of different animal species to the same exposure concentrations of an aerosol in mg/m³ may lead to different aerosol doses and toxic effects in the respiratory tract even if the sensitivity of the animals is assumed to be the same.

Furthermore, if the inhaled aerosol exerts only local effects in the respiratory tract, such as irritation, inflammation, and damage of the cell membranes, the

adequate dosimetry to compare rodents and man is aerosol mass per unit surface area of the lung. This is due to the different size of the lungs and breathing volumes between rodents and humans.

Early animal studies often used LC50 values from animal inhalation experiments with CS to extrapolate to humans to evaluate the safety margin between irritating and toxic effects in humans. For the reasons described above, this is an inappropriate extrapolation if species-specific and anatomic and physiologic data are not considered.

In this same respect, many, if not all, of the experts that have previously reviewed the CS gas exposure in the Branch Davidian complex have compared the lethal CS concentration found in the early animal experiments to the concentrations that could have occurred inside the complex. This comparison can only be done legitimately and with a certain reliability if the given animal experiment concentration leading to 50 % lethality will transform to the human equivalent concentration (HEC). This transformation or dosimetric conversion to an HEC must take into account the various species differences important for calculation of the species-specific dose in the respiratory tract.

The various species used in inhalation toxicology studies do not receive identical doses in comparable respiratory tract regions when exposed to the same external particle or gas concentration because the respiratory system of humans and various experimental animals differ in anatomy and physiology in many quantitative and qualitative ways. These variations affect air flow patterns in the respiratory tract and, in turn, the deposition of an inhaled agent as well as the retention of that agent in the system. The retained dose of an inhaled agent in the various regions of the respiratory tract (nose, mouth, nasopharynx, oropharynx, laryngeopharynx, larynx, trachea, bronchi, bronchioles, alveolar ducts, and alveoli) is not only governed by the exposure concentration and the physico-chemical properties of the test material, but also by the individual species anatomy (for example, airway size, airway branching pattern) and physiology (for example, breathing rate, clearance mechanism). The greater complexity of the nasal passages coupled with the obligate nasal

breathing of rodents results in greater deposition in this region of the respiratory tract in rodents than in humans.

The calculation of a human equivalent concentration (HEC) estimates from observed exposure effect levels in laboratory animals is based on model-derived adjustment factors considering species-specific dosimetry differences. For the calculation of the HEC of particles as described in the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Report "Methods for Derivation of Inhalation Reference Concentrations and Application of Inhalation Dosimetry" (EPA/600/8-90/066F, 1994), the regional deposition-dose ratio (RDDR) is needed.

HEC 
$$(mg/m^3)$$
 = AEC  $(mg/m^3)$  x RDDR [AEC = animal equivalent concentration]

RDDR is a multiplicatory factor used to adjust an observed inhalation particle exposure concentration of an experimental animal (A) to the predicted inhalation particulate exposure concentration for a human (H) that would be associated with the same dose delivered to a special region of the respiratory tract.

RDDR = 
$$\underline{\text{regional deposited dose (A)}^*}$$
  
regional deposited dose (H)\*

\* normalized to lung surface area.

The dose deposited in a special region of the respiratory tract RDD (mg/min) depends on the exposure concentration C (mg/m³), the minute volume V (ml/min) and the fractional deposition in a special region of the respiratory tract F.

$$RDD = 10^{-6} x C x V x F$$

The calculation of the RDDR or the HEC is based on the software available as a supplement to the aforementioned EPA report. For the calculation of the HEC estimate of CS exposure that would result in 50 % mortality, based on LCt50 values in rats, a polydisperse CS aerosol (Sigma g = 1.8; a monodisperse aerosol has a Sigma g of about 1.1; Sigma g is the geometric variance of the particle size) with a mass median aerodynamic particle diameter of 1.0  $\mu$ m up to 5.0  $\mu$ m was used. The body weight of the exposed rats and humans was assumed to be 200 g and 70 kg respectively. Based on these assumptions, the pulmonary (P) dose deposition ratio (RDDR<sub>P</sub>) was 0.3 - 0.6 and the human equivalent LCt50 estimate is therefore, on average, about half the reported rat LCt50 values.

Particularly in aerosol inhalation toxicology, the inhaled dose retained in the respiratory tract not only depends on the exposure concentration of the aerosol, but also on the exposure time. The longer the constant exposure concentration, the higher the inhaled dose. Very often in the CS literature or reports, the dose term LCt50 can be found. This term gives the product of concentration multiplied by the time of exposure under conditions where 50 % of the exposed animals will probably die. This term refers to Haber, who for toxic gases found that the same response occurs at a constant value for concentration x time, that is the total dose inhaled. Haber discovered this relationship while experimenting with the war gas phosgene. This so-called "Haber's law" (c x t = k) was confirmed for other poisonous gases; but, Haber's law is only a rule and there are always exceptions to the rule. In these cases, the response is not constant but differs between high concentration with short exposure time and low concentration with long exposure time.

With CS there is a deviation from Haber's law. Higher CS exposure concentration for a shorter time seems to be less toxic than a lower concentration for a longer time. In rats,  $4,000 \text{ mg/m}^3$  CS for 18 minutes (c x t = 70,000) caused 50 % lethality and with 40 mg/m $^3$  CS only 600 minutes (c x t = 24,000) and not 1,800 minutes (c x t = 72,000) were necessary to kill 50 % of the animals. Furthermore, the death rate in rats increased exponentially with linear increase of exposure time or inhaled dose. The death rate after

inhalation exposure to 4,000 mg/m<sup>3</sup> CS for 5, 10 and 20 minutes was 2/60, 16/60 and 50/60 respectively.

It is also important to notice that the LCt50 value describes only one point of the concentration-response curve and the path of the curve that is the alteration of the effects with increasing and decreasing exposure concentrations is not known. There are various factors that determine the path or slope of this curve. Individual sensitivity is one important factor in respect of the direct-acting irritating CS agent.

Proceeding from the assumption that Haber's law can be applied to CS although some experiments show that c x t does not seem to be constant, LCt50 values for CS were calculated in the literature from experiments employing various exposure times as well as various exposure concentrations and CS preparations. This procedure implies a great uncertainty, especially in respect of the extrapolation to CS-exposed humans.

#### 3c. Animal experiments: toxicity data

The high toxicity and acute lethality of CS given intravenously or intraperitoneally is not seen after inhalation exposure. After short-term inhalation exposure, there is always some time lag between exposure and the time of death. This high toxicity associated with intravenous or intraperitoneal exposure is due to the rapid metabolism of CS which leads to high levels of hydrogen cyanide in the body (Jones & Israel 1970; Cucinell et al. 1971). Hydrogen cyanide, as the undissociated acid, prevents the use of oxygen by blocking the electron transfer from cytochrome a3 to molecular oxygen. That means, it blocks cell respiration or oxidative metabolism even if the partial pressure of oxygen in the tissue is normal. Cells of the brain, especially the brain stem, are very sensitive to the effects of HCN and a dysfunction in this area of the brain may lead to respiratory arrest. A blood cyanide level of greater than 0.2 μg/ml blood is considered toxic. Lethal cases have usually had levels above 1 μg/ml blood (Casarett and Doull's Toxicology, 1980).

HCN also stimulates the chemoreceptors of the carotid and aortic bodies. Hyperpnea, such as increased breathing, can occur, resulting in more of the poisonous CS atmosphere being inhaled. Cardiac irregularities and hypertension can also be caused by cyanide. The evidence for the endogenous release of cyanide in rats inhaling CS at 21,000 mg.min/m³ is based on increased urinary excretion of thiocyanate (Frankenberg & Sorbo 1973). Other metabolites of CS (2-chlorobenzyl malononitrile, 2-chlorobenzaldehyde) were also found in the blood after inhalation exposure (Leadbetter 1973, Leadbetter et al. 1973).

Cyanide is detoxified in the liver by the mitochrondrial enzyme rhodanese, which catalyzes the transfer of sulfur from a sulfate donor to cyanide, forming less toxic thiocyanate. Thiocyanate is readily excreted in urine.

In contrast to intravenous or intraperitoneal exposure experiments, in inhalation experiments, only delayed deaths were observed after exposure to high concentrations of CS. This response indicates a different mechanism of action of CS depending on the type of exposure. After inhalation exposure, the toxic response focuses primarily on the lung, with direct effects on the mucous membrane and the epithelial cells. In addition to strong irritation at higher concentrations, inflammation and damage to the alveolar capillary membrane also occur followed by the development of edema, emphysema, hemorrhages, and atelectasis due to reduced synthesis and/or destruction of the surface-active material (surfactant) in the lung. These effects lead to compromised oxygen transfer from the lung to the blood capillaries and eventually, after some time, to death from suffocation. The effect of cyanide produced by the metabolism of CS may add to this suffocating situation.

High exposure concentrations of CS (2,850 mg/m³ for 10 minutes) in monkeys caused severe lung damage (edema, emphysema, and bronchiolitis). Only coughing and nasal discharge, however, was observed in monkeys exposed to approximately 300 mg/m³ CS for 5, 10 and 30 minutes. Dogs, as well, died after high doses of CS inhalation exposure, but only some hours later after they too had developed pulmonary edema, hemorrhages and atelectasis.

Slight differences in toxic potency were described, depending on whether the CS-containing atmosphere was generated pyrotechnically using thermal grenades or ammunition, sprayed as heated and molten CS forming a condensation aerosol, sprayed as a solution of CS in acetone or methylene chloride, forming crystalline CS particles after instantaneous evaporation of the organic solvent, or dispersed as micronized CS powder containing anticoagulation substances. At Waco, a solution of CS in methylene chloride was used.

There is no systematic toxicity study comparing the various CS aerosol preparations under similar experimental conditions, but there are some indications based on LCt50 values that CS aerosols from molten CS appear to be somewhat more toxic than micropulverized CS and clearly more toxic than CS from thermal grenades. Based on one inhalation experiment with CS dissolved in MC or acetone and sprayed for inhalation exposure to guinea pigs, organic solutions of CS, grenade-type CS and powdered CS2 appeared to have similar LCt50 values, but the LCt50 value for molten CS was 5 - 8 times lower (McNamara et al., 1969). At Waco, only MC/CS was used, but the toxic potency of thermal grenade CS and fine powdered CS (particle size  $\sim 1~\mu m$ ) does not seem to be very different from the toxic potency of MC/CS inhaled as a fine dry CS crystal after evaporation of the organic solvent. In the following, the lowest c x t exposure values leading to mortality are listed:

### a) Non-rodents

Species	Concentration (mg/m³)	Time (minutes)	c x t (mg.min/m³)
Monkey <sup>1</sup>	1,950	32	62,400
Monkey <sup>2</sup>	469	24	11,246
Monkey <sup>3</sup>	1,700	25	42,500
Dog <sup>1</sup>	2,595	5	12,975
Dog <sup>2</sup>	508	36	18,276
Dog <sup>3</sup>	2,400	28	67,200

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Thermal grenade; <sup>2</sup> Molten; <sup>3</sup> Powder

## b) Rodents

Species	Concentration (mg/m³)	Time (minutes)	c x t (mg.min/m³)
Rat <sup>1</sup>	600	15	9,000
Rat <sup>2</sup>	560	25	14,000
Rat <sup>3</sup>	1,135	30	34,050
Guinea pig <sup>1</sup>	2,595	5	12,975
Guinea pig <sup>1</sup>	454	23	13,000
Guinea pig <sup>2</sup>	400	5	2,000
Guinea pig <sup>3</sup>	1,135	30	34,050
Mouse <sup>2</sup>	1,100	20	22,000

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Thermal grenade; <sup>2</sup> Molten; <sup>3</sup> Powder

Based on these early mortality data, rodents seem to be more sensitive (mortality starts at lower c x t values) than non-rodents, but based on the LCt50 values for molten and grenade CS, the opposite seems to be true, with non-rodents being more sensitive than rodents.

The LCt50 value for molten and grenade CS in rodents/non-rodents is 75,971/32,268 mg.min/m³ and 79,080/35,559 mg.min/m³ respectively. In respect of the concentration-response curve, this would mean that the slope of this curve that is determined by the minimum lethal concentration and the LCt50 point must be steeper in non-rodents than in rodents.

The slope of the log dose-response relationship is a measure for the variation in sensitivity within the group of animals or humans investigated. The smaller the variation, the steeper the curve.

The LCt50 of CS2 powder in non-rodents (dogs and monkeys) was 69,397 mg.min/m³ and in rodents (rats and guinea pigs) was 56,792 mg.min/m³. Data on the particle size of the powder CS were not reported.

With this comparison, one has to consider that the deposition efficiency of inhaled particles in the lung and therefore the CS dose in the lung may be different in the various animal species. The particle deposition patterns in the lung are similar for mice and rats on the one hand and for monkeys, dogs and humans on the other; the pattern for guinea pigs lies in-between. The differences are mainly the result of anatomical differences among these species. Furthermore, the rodents can reduce their breathing volume by 50 - 70 % when exposed to a sensory irritant. In this way, the rodents are able to lower the inhaled dose of the irritating agent.

The most sensitive animal species is the guinea pig. The LCt50 for sprayed molten CS was 8,410 mg.min/m³(minimum lethal concentration 400 mg/m³ for 5 minutes). For CS dispersed from thermal grenades, the LCt50 value was 36,439 mg.min/m³ (minimum lethal concentration 454 mg/m³ for 23 minutes) and for powdered CS2, the LCt50 value was 49,082 mg.min/m³ (minimum lethal

concentration 1,135 mg.min/m<sup>3</sup> for 30 minutes). The guinea pig has abundant smooth bronchial musculature which makes this species more susceptible to inhaled irritants because it develops bronchioconstrictive and asthma-like responses more easily.

At Waco, only MC/CS was used. There is only one experiment mentioned in the available literature on inhalation toxicity testing with CS dissolved in methylene chloride (10 % solution), but no information is given on the droplet size generated by dispersion of this fluid. Large droplets would fall very rapidly to the ground and the size of the crystalline CS particles that are formed after evaporation of methylene chloride from the liquid aerosol very much depends on the amount of CS dissolved in the droplet.

Comparison of the guinea pigs exposed to CS2 powder and those exposed to CS dispersed from methylene chloride solution is quite similar: 49,082 and 45,838 mg.min/m³ respectively. Early mortality in guinea pigs exposed to CS generated from methylene chloride solution occurred after 10 - 15 minutes of exposure to 800 - 1,000 mg/m³ CS. CS powder caused early mortality after inhalation of 1,135 mg/m³ for 30 minutes.

No increased mortality was reported in rats exposed to between 500 and 2,500 mg/m³ of MC/CS for between 5 and 45 minutes, resulting in c x t values between 2,000 and 59,000 mg.min/m³. With micronized CS powder, the LCt50 value for rats is reported to be 67,588 mg.min/m³. There is no explanation other than the conduct of the rat experiment for the different effects between powder CS and MC/CS reported in rats but not in guinea pigs.

Also, no information was given on the concentration of methylene chloride in the exposure chamber. The combinatory effect of inhaled CS and methylene chloride has to be assumed. In particular, the effect of CO which is formed as a metabolite of methylene chloride in the organism has to be considered. CO binds to hemoglobin and in this way reduces the transport capacity of oxygen into the blood. Poor oxygen transfer into the lung due to CS-related lung

damage together with reduced hemoglobin-binding capacity for oxygen may increase the risk of asphyxiation.

These data point to a higher toxic potency of CS dispersed from methylene chloride solution compared to CS powder in guinea pigs, but no information was given on the characteristics of the aerosol generated. None of 18 monkeys with bacterial infection in the lung (which may have caused reduced breathing) died after exposure to 30,000 mg.min/m³ CS dispersed from methylene chloride solution. The LCt50 value from monkeys exposed to powdered CS was 42,500 mg.min/m³. With no other information available, it can be assumed that the LCt50 value for MC/CS in monkeys may not be very different to the LCt50 value of micronized powdered CS.

The respiratory tract of humans shows more similarities with the respiratory tract of monkeys than with that of rodents. This refers to the characteristics of the nasal cavity, the cellular composition of the bronchiolar epithelium, the presence of respiratory bronchioles in humans and monkeys, but mostly not in rodents, as well as similar minute volume per kg body weight and fractional pulmonary deposition (for 1, 2 and 5 µm particles) in humans and monkeys (CRC Handbook of Toxicology, 1995; Concepts in Inhalation Toxicology, 1989). On the other hand, for extrapolating toxicity data from animal experiments to humans, the most sensitive animal species is chosen if no data available demonstrating mechanistically or otherwise that the high sensitivity is a species-specific effect which will not occur in humans. For inhalation risk assessment, the most sensitive species is the species that shows an adverse effect level which, when dosimetrically adjusted, results in the lowest human equivalent exposure concentration.

Averaging all experimental animal data reported in the literature on LCt50 values, the U.S. military determined an LCt50 value of 52,000 mg.min/m<sup>3</sup> for molten CS, and 61,000 mg.min/m<sup>3</sup> for grenade CS, but these values cannot be extrapolated to humans without calculating a human equivalent concentration estimate or employing uncertainty factors for species-to-species extrapolation.

#### 3d. Toxicity data in humans

CS is a peripheral sensory irritant and the exposure-related symptoms include eye irritation, excessive lacrimation, blepharospasm, burning sensation in the nose and throat, excessive salivation, constricting sensation in the chest, feeling of suffocation, sneezing and coughing, and stinging or burning sensation on the exposed skin. In higher concentrations, CS can also irritate the stomach, leading to vomiting and diarrhea. The detection limit of CS in humans by smelling is approximately 4  $\mu$ m/m³, the concentration of CS that causes people to leave is

0.5 mg/m<sup>3</sup>. At 1 mg/m<sup>3</sup> lacrimation occurs and a concentration of 10 mg/m<sup>3</sup> will deter trained troops.

CS concentrations that may be injurious to the health of 50 % of the exposed humans are reported to be 10 - 20 mg.min/m<sup>3</sup>. The irritating potency of CS varies among individuals and increased ambient temperature and humidity can also intensify the irritating effects.

Very often the ICt50 value is reported. This incapacitating concentration is the CS concentration that is intolerable to 50 % of the population exposed for 1 minute. The decision to tolerate the irritant is strongly influenced by the individual's will to resist.

Higher CS exposure can be tolerated when the concentration of CS is gradually increased. The range of the ICt50 value reported in the literature is 0.1 - 10 mg/m $^3$  for 1 minute. Smaller CS particles have a predominantly respiratory effect, whereas larger CS particles have predominantly ocular effects. This finding was reported using particles of different sizes (0.9  $\mu$ m and 60  $\mu$ m) generated by spraying a solution of 2 % CS in methylene chloride.

Humans can tolerate CS of 1.5 mg/m³ for 90 minutes. When the concentration is built up over 30 minutes, an atmosphere of 6.6 mg/m³ can be tolerated. The size of the CS aerosol dispersed in these controlled human exposures from a 10 % solution in methylene chloride or from molten CS was in the range of 0.5 -

1 μm. The following major symptoms in the respiratory tract were reported during controlled human exposure to CS (over 30 minutes), gradually attaining a concentration of 6.6 mg/m³: slight burning, coughing, sneezing, eye irritation, burning became painful with constricting sensation in the chest, gasping when aerosol was inhaled, holding breath and slow and shallow breathing, and paroxysms of coughing that forced the individuals to leave the exposure chamber (Punte et al. 1963).

In the literature, the short accidental exposure of a previously healthy male subject of 43 years of age to high concentrations of CS caused inside a room by a smoke gas projectile containing 1 g of CS was reported. This subject developed a toxic pulmonary edema. He recovered after several weeks of medical treatment (Krapf & Thalmann 1981).

There are no reports on human death caused by CS. Therefore, CS concentration, or concentration times time value for lethal effects in humans, can only be derived from animal experiments.

# CS concentration and exposure scenarios in the Mount Carmel compound, Waco

The CS agent was inserted into the building dissolved in methylene chloride using pressurized canisters (Model 5 Protectojet) containing 1070 g methylene chloride and 30 g CS as well as ferret rounds containing 33.25 g methylene chloride and 3.7 g CS. The solution of CS in methylene chloride was ejected from the canister through a small orifice and tube by means of CO<sub>2</sub> as propellant. The plastic ferret rounds burst after hitting the walls or windows of the building, distributing the methylene chloride/CS solution as liquid aerosol. Methylene chloride evaporates very rapidly from the small droplets generated by the delivery systems, leaving behind small solid CS particles that can easily be inhaled. Because of the evaporation of methylene chloride, the indoor air was not only contaminated with CS particles, but also with gaseous methylene chloride.

Based on information provided by the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), a total of 20 canisters and 386 ferret rounds were used in the Waco operation on April 19, 1993, starting at about 6 a.m. and ending shortly after noon. Dr. Jerry Havens prepared a report for the OSC where he calculated room concentrations of CS and methylene chloride in the Mount Carmel complex using the tear gas insertion log, put together by the OSC, and various environmental and building specifications also provided by the OSC (see also Report by Jerry Havens entitled "Analysis of Flammability Hazard Associated with the Use of Tear Gas at the Branch Davidian Compound, Waco, Texas, April 19, 1993" prepared for the Office of Special Counsel, John C. Danforth). This information and the COMIS computer model were used to estimate the concentration of CS and methylene chloride in the various rooms of the Mount Carmel complex, taking into account ventilation in the building.

Dr. Havens also calculated 15-second time interval series of CS and methylene chloride concentrations in each room and compartment in the Mount Carmel building using various tear gas insertion scenarios. The following list of rooms highlights the rooms that experienced the highest CS and MS concentrations under the most probable insertion scenario. These concentration predictions assume worst case matters including complete dispersion and all ferrets made it into the complex. These concentrations and concentration time values are used to answer the questions posed to me by the Office of Special Counsel, including whether CS exposure could have attributed or even caused the death of Branch Davidians living in the Mount Carmel compound on April 19, 1993:

#### 1. Room 27 (bunker)

Insertion of one canister at 11.50 a.m. resulted in an initial concentration of 318 mg/m³ CS and 3,268 ppm methylene chloride in Room 27. After 30 minutes, the room concentration of CS and methylene chloride is still 215 mg/m³ and 2,196 ppm respectively. The calculated c x t value is approximately 8000 mg.min/m³ CS (see also Fig. 1: RM27/1). As described in Dr. Havens' report, this scenario is highly improbable given the depth of penetration of the CEV at 11.50, and the capabilities of the Model 5 Protectojet.

#### 2. Room 27 (bunker)

Insertion of half a canister at 11.50 a.m. resulted in an initial concentration of 160 mg/m³ CS and 1,631 ppm methylene chloride in Room 27. After 30 minutes, the room concentration of CS and methylene chloride is still 119 mg/m³ and 1,214 ppm respectively. The calculated c x t value is approximately 4,200 mg.min/m³ CS (see also Fig. 2: RM27/0.5). As described in Dr. Havens' report, this is the most probable scenario within the Branch Davidian complex on April 19, 1993.

#### 3. Room 19

Various insertions of tear gas during the time period of 6.13 a.m. to 7.35 a.m.. The maximum concentration of CS and methylene chloride reached during this time was 768 mg/m³ and 7,746 ppm respectively. The calculated c x t value is approximately 7,000 mg.min/m³ CS (see also Fig. 5: RM19).

#### 4. Room 5

Insertion of tear gas at 6.05 a.m. resulted in an initial concentration of 1,108 mg/m³ CS and 11,341 ppm methylene chloride. After 2 minutes, the concentrations of CS and methylene chloride drop to almost half the initial concentrations (661 mg/m³ and 6,768 ppm respectively), and 20 minutes after starting the tear gas insertion the CS and methylene chloride concentrations are down to 16 mg/m³ and 161 ppm respectively. The calculated c x t value is approximately 4,000 mg.min/m³ CS (see also Fig. 3: RM5).

#### 5. Room 7

Tear gas insertion starts at 9.11 a.m. leading to an initial concentration of 1,178 mg/m $^3$  and 11,035 ppm methylene chloride. After 1 minute, the room concentrations of CS and methylene chloride are down to 6 mg/m $^3$  and 62 ppm respectively. The calculated c x t value is approximately 2,100 mg.min/m $^3$  CS (see also Fig. 4: RM7).

#### 6. Room 30

Insertion of 2 canisters within one minute between 11.49 a.m. and 11.52 a.m.. Two peak concentrations occurred: 334 mg/m³ and 364 mg/m³ for CS and 3,415 ppm and 3,726 ppm for methylene chloride. 2.5 minutes after starting the tear gas insertion, the concentrations are down to 10 mg/m³ CS

and 106 ppm methylene chloride. The calculated c x t value is approximately 330 mg.min/m<sup>3</sup> CS (see also Fig.6: RM30).

# 5. Was there a higher risk of Branch Davidians to die because of the CS exposure?

#### 5a. Adult exposure

In the monkey, which is the most adequate animal species in respect of anatomic and physiologic respiratory tract similarities to humans for making predictions of toxic effects in the respiratory tract of CS-exposed humans, only slight clinical symptoms such as coughing and nasal discharge were reported after exposure to approximately 300 mg/m³ CS (molten and sprayed) for up to 30 minutes. On the other hand, early mortality occurred in monkeys after exposure to 469 mg/m³ CS for 24 minutes and another non-rodent species, the dog, showed mortalities after exposure to 508 mg/m³ CS for 36 minutes. The lowest c x t value indicating that mortality starts to occur was 11,246 mg.min/m³ in monkeys and 12,975 mg.min/m³ in dogs. With powdered CS, which seems to have a somewhat lower toxic potency than molten CS and which may be more similar to MC/CS used at Waco, the lowest c x t values for monkeys and dogs indicating early mortality were 42,500 mg.min/m³ and 67,200 mg.min/m³.

For the exposure scenario RM27/1, a CS concentration of 318 - 215 mg/m³ for 30 minutes and a c x t value of approximately 8,000 mg.min/m³ were calculated. Assuming that the fire in the Waco complex had destroyed this area at 12.15 p.m., the c x t value would be a little lower (see Fig. 1). There is not a big safety factor between the inhaled dose with early indication of mortality in monkeys and dogs exposed to molten CS and the CS dose inhaled theoretically by Branch Davidians in this exposure scenario or the one of RM19 with a c x t value of approximately 7,000 mg.min/m³ dispersed from MC/CS solution. Even if only half a canister had been inserted into Room 27, the calculated c x t value is only 2 to 3 times lower than the c x t value that caused early mortality in dogs and monkeys exposed to molten CS. Also, the LCt50 value for CS (molten and grenade type) in non-rodents is only 5 to 6 times

higher than the c x t values calculated on the basis of the exposure scenarios of Room 27 and Room 19. Taking the value of early mortality in monkeys exposed to powdered CS (42,000 mg.min/m³) which may be more similar to the MC/CS used at Waco than molten CS, there would be a safety factor of 10 if the exposure scenario of Room 27 filled with half a canister of MC/CS is used.

Provided the monkey is as sensitive to CS in the lung as the exposed humans, the comparison of the human situation especially to the monkey may be quite valid because the anatomy of the respiratory tract, including the nasal region, and the aerosol deposition efficiency of man and monkey are very similar.

Because only very few data from experiments with monkeys are available and the rodents seem to be more sensitive to CS exposure than monkeys, and because rodents, especially the rat, are the animal species most used for toxicity tests, the risk assessment of CS for humans should also consider the rodent data available. In rodents, mostly rats and guinea pigs, the inhaled doses (c x t values) of molten or thermal grenade CS that led to early mortality were in the range of 2,000 mg.min/m³ (400 mg/m³ for 5 minutes) up to 14,000 mg.min/m³ (560 mg/m³ for 25 minutes). The most sensitive rodent is the guinea pig with an LCt50 value for molten CS of only 8,410 mg.min/m³. The LCt50 values of CS powder and CS dispersed from a solution in methylene chloride are quite similar, namely 49,082 and 45,838 mg.min/m³ respectively. Taking the rodent species together, the LCt50 values for molten, grenade and powder CS are 75,971, 79,080 and 56,792 mg.min/m³ respectively. Similar toxic potency of powdered CS and MC/CS used at Waco can be assumed.

These inhaled concentration levels lethal to rodents are far higher than those calculated for the various exposure scenarios in the Mount Carmel compound of the Branch Davidians. However, taking into account the differences between rodents and humans in respect of anatomy of the respiratory tract, breathing volume, lung surface, particle deposition efficiency in the respiratory tract, etc., the human equivalent concentration that would lead to the same effect in humans as observed in rodents (50 % mortality) has to be calculated before the animal exposure and effect data can be extrapolated to humans.

Using the approach to calculate the human equivalent concentration as published by the U.S. EPA in 1994 (EPA/600/8-90/066F), it turned out that the LCt50 values for rats and guinea pigs leading to 50 % mortality would be only roughly half the value as the human equivalent concentration. As the most harmful effects of inhaled CS occur in the alveolar region of the lung, only the fractional deposition for this part of the lung (pulmonary) was taken into account when calculating the human equivalent concentration.

Taking this human equivalent concentration into account and assuming that the rodent lung is as sensitive to CS as the human lung, then the human LCt50 values derived from rodent data would be in the range of 25,000 - 40,000 mg.min/m<sup>3</sup>.

Based on the most sensitive rodent species, the guinea pig, the human equivalent LCt50 value for CS dispersed from a solution in methylene chloride would be roughly 23,000 mg.min/m³. Another uncertainty not considered in this calculation is the reduced breathing volume in rodents exposed to sensory irritants. The CS dose actually retained in the rodent lung is clearly lower than the calculated dose because the normal and not the reduced respiratory frequency and breathing volume of the rodents were used for calculating the human equivalent concentration. This would lead to an even lower human equivalent LCt50 estimate.

Although the inhaled concentrations in animal experiments, including monkeys, that caused early deaths or even 50 % mortality are not too far from the inhaled concentration values calculated for Rooms 27 and 19 in the Mount Carmel building, one has to consider that the ICt50 value for humans, that is the CS concentration that forces 50 % of the exposed humans to leave the exposure situation, because of the strong irritating effects is at least a factor of 30 lower than these predicted room concentrations. This means that, only if the inhabitants of the Mount Carmel residence were not able to leave the rooms in which such high concentrations of CS occurred, would the CS exposure possibly contribute to the deaths of some of the Branch Davidians. If the

Branch Davidians were free to leave the rooms with high concentrations, CS would probably not have contributed to their death.

As death does not occur immediately after short-term CS exposure in animal experiments but only after some time, it can be assumed that other factors (e.g. the fire) could have also contributed to the death of the Mount Carmel inhabitants.

#### 5b. Child exposure

The inhaled breathing volume per surface area in children up to 7 years of age is about 8 - 20 times greater than in adults (Barnes 1987, West 1987). The rate of aerosol deposition normalized to lung surface area is about 35 % greater in children (7 - 14 years of age) than in adolescents and adults for resting breathing and 2 µm particle size. The increase in normalized deposition rate in children is due to the higher minute ventilation in relation to the lung size (Bennett & Zemann 2000). This means that children exposed to the same CS aerosol atmosphere as adults will get higher doses of CS per lung surface area than adults and therefore the toxic effects of a certain CS exposure atmosphere can be more pronounced in children than in adults.

Furthermore, age-dependent model calculations based on the dimensions of airways and the geometry of branching airway networks within the lungs indicate that, for example, 1 µm particles will have a lung deposition of 24 % in an adult, but 33 % in a 22-month-old child; this is a relative increase of 38 % (Musante et al. 2000). Children, who were not able to leave the rooms exposed to high concentrations of CS (Room 27 and Room 19) or who were not otherwise protected from CS inhalation, would be at a higher risk for toxic effects of CS than adults exposed to the same CS concentration.

#### 5c. Multiple chemical exposure

1. Methylene chloride (MC)

In addition to the exposure to CS, the inhabitants of the Mount Carmel residence also inhaled relatively high concentrations of methylene chloride. Methylene chloride can induce narcotic effects and unconsciousness in high concentrations (approximately  $\geq$  10,000 ppm). Concentrations of methylene chloride of up to almost 8,000 ppm could have occurred, though only for a short time, if the predicted exposure scenario of Room 19 is considered. MC is metabolized in the body partly to CO, which leads to the formation of CO hemoglobin and thus to the reduction in the oxygen transport capacity of the blood. Together with a CS-related lung injury leading to poor oxygen transfer from the alveolar space to the blood capillaries, the increased COHb values add to the danger of suffocation.

Possible effects of methylene chloride on the central nervous system are reported and discussed by Dr. George Lucier in his report to the OSC (Analysis of the Toxicity Hazards of Methylene Chloride Associated with the Use of Tear Gas at the Branch Davidian Compound at Waco, Texas, on April 19, 1993).

#### 2. Effects of hydrogen cyanide (HCN)

Besides the direct toxic effect of high concentrations of CS on the lung, the formation of hydrogen cyanide (HCN) from malononitrile, a metabolite of CS, and its toxic effect, especially on the most sensitive brain cells, possibly leading to respiratory arrest, cannot be ignored when possible lethal effects of CS exposure are discussed. In animal experiments, a synergistic lethality induced by the combination of carbon monoxide and cyanide was reported. This effect could not be explained by altered carbon monoxide or cyanide blood concentrations (Norris et al. 1986).

With room concentrations of more than 100 mg/m $^3$  CS for about 30 minutes, as was predicted if half a CS-containing canister would have been inserted into Room 27 (bunker) and assuming the people in this room did not have gas masks and were not able to leave, more than 10  $\mu$ mol or 270  $\mu$ g cyanide per minute could be formed in the body. This calculation includes a 50 %

deposition efficiency of inhaled CS aerosol in the respiratory tract, a minute volume of the exposed person of 20 liters and the metabolic availability of both of the CN groups of the CS molecule. But toxification (formation of cyanide) as well as detoxification (formation of thiocyanate) kinetics are not known.

The blood cyanide level of Waco descendants reported in the "Forensic Pathology Evaluation of the 1993 Mount Carmel Deaths and Other Pertinent Issues" prepared for the OSC was, on average, 18.5 µmol/l or 0.5 mg/l.

In the literature, the mean blood cyanide level of 615 fire victims was 980  $\mu$ g/l, ranging from 60 - 4,000  $\mu$ g/l (Barrillo et al. 1994). Cyanide is produced from all material containing C and N heated to a certain temperature. Also, the fire in the Waco building, starting shortly after noon, may have produced hydrogen cyanide that could be inhaled by the Branch Davidians. This cyanide adds to that produced metabolically from CS in the body.

Lethal blood cyanide levels are usually greater than 1 mg/l and levels greater than 0.2 - 0.25 mg/l are considered toxic and dangerous (Silverman et al. 1988).

For comparison, cyanide concentration in mainstream cigarette smoke is reported to be in the range of 40 - 70 ppm (Yamanaka et al. 1991). This means one 30 ml puff of a cigarette may contain 0.04 - 0.08  $\mu$ mol or 1 - 2  $\mu$ g cyanide. After abstaining from smoking for at least 2 hours, the smoking of one cigarette resulted in a blood cyanide level of approximately 0.5  $\mu$ mol/l or 13  $\mu$ g/l (Lundqvist

et al. 1987). This is roughly a factor of 40 lower than the average blood cyanide level of the Waco descendants. Their cyanide levels are well in the toxic and dangerous range. However, it is well known that cyanide can be produced and degraded in blood and tissue, especially dependent on the surrounding temperature, making interpretation of blood levels rather difficult and uncertain (Barrillo et al. 1994, Seto 1996).

#### 6. Conclusion

Based on the predicted CS exposure situation in the Mount Carmel compound and assuming the exposed people were not able to leave such worst exposure scenarios, despite the very irritating, burning effects of CS inducing heavy coughing, and considering the variation in sensitivity in humans, including children, there is a distinct possibility that this kind of CS exposure can significantly contribute to or even cause lethal effects. If, on the other hand, the exposed people were able to leave the rooms (CS-related toxicity in the respiratory tract needs some time to actually cause death), avoid the rooms, or were able to protect themselves sufficiently by wearing gas masks, the CS exposure experienced by Branch Davidians, while uncomfortable, would not have caused lethal effects.

Hannover, 28 September, 2000

.....

Prof. Dr. Uwe Heinrich

#### Biographical Resumé

#### Prof. Dr. Uwe Heinrich

Dr. Heinrich is Professor of Toxicology and Aerosol Research at the University Medical School, Hannover, Germany, and Director of the Fraunhofer Institute of Toxicology and Aerosol Research, *Drug Research and Clinical Inhalation*. He received his Diploma (M.S.) in Zoology (Endocrinology, Physiological Etiology, and Histology) and his Dr.rer.nat. (Ph.D.) in Biology (Zoology, Physiology, Biochemistry, and Pharmacology) from the Eberhard-Karls University, Tübingen, Germany.

Dr. Heinrich has been a lecturer in Toxicology and Experimental Oncology at the University Medical School, Hannover, since 1984 and received his Dr.rer.biol.hum.habil. (Habilitation) and venia legendi in Experimental Oncology from the same university in 1989.

Dr. Heinrich was a research fellow in General Toxicology, specializing in Inhalation Toxicology, at the Institute of Toxicology of Bayer AG, Wuppertal, Germany, and a research fellow in Environmental Hygiene and Experimental Oncology at the Medical Institute of Environmental Hygiene, Heinrich-Heine University, Düsseldorf, Germany.

Dr. Heinrich's research interests are in inhalation toxicology, environmental and occupational hygiene, risk assessment, and preclinical research. He has published his research results in more than 100 scientific papers and in 1991 he received the Kenneth Morgareidge Award for outstanding research in the field of inhalation toxicology.

Dr. Heinrich is a Fellow of the Academy of Toxicological Sciences (U.S.) and also serves on various national and international committees related to his expertise. He is currently Vice President of the International Society of Environmental Medicine.

#### Uwe Heinrich, Dr. rer. biol. hum Professor

#### **CURRICULUM VITAE**

#### Personal Data

Date of birth Nationality	December 15, 1948, Salzgitter, Germany German
Education	
1955 - 1959	Elementary school in Salzgitter, Germany
1959 - 1969	Gymnasium in Salzgitter
1969 - 1973	Studies at Eberhard-Karls-Universität in Tübingen
1973	Diploma (M.S.) in Zoology (Endocrinology, Physiological Ethology, Histology)
1976	Dr. rer. nat. (Ph.D.) in Biology (Zoology, Physiology, Biochemistry, Pharmacology)
1984 - present ್ರ	Lecturer (Toxicology, Experimental Oncology) at Hannover Medical School
1989	Habilitation and venia legendi 'Experimental Oncology' at Hannover Medical School, University Lecturer (Privatdozent)
1996	University Professor 'Toxicology and Aerosol Research', Medical School, Hannover
D. C.	

#### Profession

1976/1977	Research fellow in general toxicology and especially inhalation
	toxicology at the Instiute of Toxicology of Bayer Corporation,
	Wuppertal, Germany

1977/1978 Research fellow in environmental hygiene and experimental oncology at the Medical Institute of Environmental Hygiene at Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf, Germany

1978/1981	Scientific member and group leader 'Inhalation Toxicology' at Fraunhofer Institute of Toxicology and Aerosol Research in Münster, Germany; responsible for long-term animal inhalation studies, clinical chemistry and hematology, lung
	function laboratory and animal house

1981 - 1996

Head, Department of Environmental Hygiene, Lung Funtion
Laboratory and Animal House at the Fraunhofer Institute of
Toxicology and Aerosol Research, Hannover, Germany

1988 - 1996 Deputy Director of the Fraunhofer Institute of Toxicology and Aerosol Research, Hannover, Germany

1996 - present Director of the Fraunhofer Institute of Toxicology and Aerosol Research, Hannover, Germany

#### Award

1991 International Life Sciences Institute Kenneth Morgareidge Award

#### Editorial Responsibilities

- Editorial Board 'Inhalation Toxicology' (1989 1997)
- Editorial Board, 'Umweltmedizin in Forschung und Praxis' (1996 present)
- Co-Editor, 'Gefährdungsabschätzung von Umweltschadstoffen' (Hazard Assessment of Environmental Pollutants) (1998 - present)

#### Reviewer

- Manuscripts from various journals (5/year)
- Research proposals (5/year)

#### Member

- Commission for the Investigation of Health Hazards of Chemical Compounds in the Work Area. German Research Organisation (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft)
- Advisory Committee Toxicology, Committee on Hazardous Substances, Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs (Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Sozialordnung)

- Scientific Advisory Committee, 'Programme for the Prevention of Health Hazards caused by Industrial Substances', Employment Accident Insurance Fund of the Chemical Industry (Berufsgenossenschaft der chemischen Industrie)
- Temporary Adviser, World Health Organization
- Temporary Member of the Group of National Experts on Classification and Labelling of Dangerous Substances, EWG, DGXI, Brussels
- Participant of IARC Working Group of Experts on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans

#### Recently Organized/Chaired

- Joint Meeting of the European Commission and Health Effects Institute 'The Health Effects of Fine Particles: Key Questions and the 2003 Review', Brussels, January 1999
- International Inhalation Symposia, Hannover (1987, 1989, 1991, 1993, 1995, 1997, 1999, 2001)
- International Multidisciplinary Conference on Environmental Medicine, Graz, Austria, September 1999
- 7<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on Particle Toxicology, Maastricht, The Netherlands, October 1999
- International Congress on Environmental Health, October 2000, Hannover

## Member of Scientific Societies

- Deutsche Gesellschaft für experimentelle und klinische Pharmakologie und Toxikologie
- Deutsche Gesellschaft für Pneumologie
- International Society of Environmental Medicine (Vice President)
- EUROTOX

#### Reference List

- Ackermann, W., Funcke, W., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., König, J., Muhle, H., Oberdörster, G., Peters, L., Pott, F., Stöber, W.: Tierexperimentelle und epidemiologische Untersuchungen zur biologischen Wirkung von Abgasen aus Verbrennungsmotoren (Otto- und Dieselmotoren), Literaturstudie. Schriftenreihe Nr. 14, p. 194, Forschungsvereinigung Automobiltechnik eV (FAT), Frankfurt/M (1980)
- Heinrich, U., Stöber, W., Klingenberg, A.: Stand der Arbeiten zur biologischen Forschung über Abgasemissionen aus Verbrennungsmotoren. VDI Berichte Nr. 370, 383 - 390 (1980)
- Heinrich, U., Stöber, W., Pott, F.: Long-term diesel exhaust inhalation studies with hamsters. In: W.E. Pepelko, R.M. Danner, N.A. Clark (eds.), Health Effects of Diesel Engine Emissions: Proceedings of an International Symposium, Vol. 2, 026 - 1047 (1980)
- Görlitz, B.-D., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Stöber, W., Eikmann, Th., Einbrodt, H.J., Marquardt, H.: Emission, Imission und Wirkung von Kraftfahrzeugabgasen Materialienband Wirkungen, Programmstudie. Heft 296-4, p. 190, Forschungsvereinigung Verbrennungskraftmaschinen eV, Frankfurt/M. (1981)
- Meiß, R., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Himmels, S., Themann, H.: Morphometrische Untersuchungen der Leberveränderungen nach oraler und subkutaner Applikation von o-Phenylphenol. Wissenschaft und Umwelt 4, 252 - 261 (1981)
- Meiß, R., Robenek, H., Rassat, J., Themann, H., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Anwendung unterschiedlicher Methoden zur ultrastrukturellen Diagnostik im Tierexperiment. Beitr. Elektronenmikroskop. Direktabb. Oberfl. 14, 471 - 478 (1981)
- Meiß, R., Robenek, H., Schubert, M., Themann, H. and <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Ultrastructural alterations in the livers of golden hamsters following experimental chronic inhalation of diluted Diesel exhaust emission. Int. Arch. Occup Environ. Health 48, 147 157 (1981)

- Schröer, W., Themann, H., Meiß, R., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Ultrastrukturelle Veränderungen der Rattenleber nach akuter Bleivergiftung. Wissenschaft und Umwelt 1/1982, 23 - 29 (1982)
- Meiß, R., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Die Bedeutung morphometrischer Verfahren in der Beurteilung von Leberveränderungen nach Intoxikation mit Umweltgiften. Wissenschaft und Umwelt 1/1982, 21 - 22 (1982)
- Meiß, R., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Robenek, H., Themann, H.: Effect of Silybin on hepatic cell membranes after damage by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH). Agents and Actions 12 (1/2), 254 - 257 (1982)
- Heinrich, U.: Tierexperimentelle Befunde zur Wirkung von polyzyklischen aromatischen Kohlenwasserstoffen (PAH) unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des Kfz-Abgases. In: Abgasbelastung durch den Kraftfahrzeugverkehr im Nahbereich verkehrsreicher Straßen. Verlag TÜV Rheinland GmbH. S. 315 327 (1982)
- Meiß, R., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Offermann, M., Themann, H.: Long-term study of liver damage following subcutaneous injection of airborne particle extracts and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon fractions. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health 49, 305 - 314 (1982)
- Heinrich, U., Peters, L., Funcke, W., Pott, F., Mohr, U., Stöber, W.: Investigation of toxic and carcinogenic effects of diesel exhaust in long-term inhalation exposure of rodents. In: J. Lewtas (ed.), Toxicological Effects of Emissions from Diesel Engines, Elsevier Biomedical, New York, Amsterdam, Oxford, pp. 225 - 242 (1982)
- Pott, F., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Versuchsmodell zur tierexperimentellen Kanzerogenitätspr

   üfung von Gesamtabgasen. In: Umwelthygiene, Bd.15. Medizinisches Institut f

   ür Umwelthygiene, Jahresbericht 1982. Hrsg. v. d. Ges. z. F

   örderung d. Lufthygiene und Silikoseforschung eV, D

   üsseldorf.- Verlag Stefan W. Albers, D

   üsseldorf (1982)
- Bellmann. B., Muhle, H., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Lung clearance after long time exposure of rats to airborne pollutants. J. Aerosol. Sci. 14(3), 194 - 196 (1983)
- 16. Heinrich, U., Stöber, W., Klingenberg, H.: Animal inhalation studies on the effects

- of exhaust emissions from internal combustion:engines. SAE-Paper-143 pp. 132 141, In: The Automotive Future. Published by: Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., 400 Commonwealth Drive, Warrendale, PA, USA (1984)
- Heinrich, U.: Zur Frage der kanzerogenen Wirkung von Kfz-Abgasen mit besonderer Berücksichtigung von tierexperimentellen Befunden. Staub-Reinhalt. Luft 44 (9), 386 - 389 (1984)
- Muhle, H., Bellmann, B., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Effect of combustion products of fossil fuels on lung metabolism in inhalation experiments. In: R. Bass, P., P. Grosdanoff, U. Hackenberg, D. Henschler, D. Müller, H.-J. Klimişch (eds.) BGA-Schrif-ten 5/84, Problems of inhalation toxicity studies. MMV-Verlag München, pp. 359 - 371 (1984)
- Mohr, U., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Fuhst, R., Ketkar, M., Muhle, H.: The suitability of the Syrian golden hamster for chronic inhalation experiments. In: R. Bass, P. Grosdanoff, U. Hackenberg, D. Henschler, D. Müller, H.-J. Klimisch (eds.), BGA-Schriften 5/84, Problems of inhalation toxicity studies. MMV-Verlag München, pp. 145 - 152 (1984)
- Heinrich, U., Pott, F.: Possibilities and limitations of toxicity and carcinogenicity studies on emissions in inhalation experiments. In: R. Bass, P. Grosdanoff, U. Hackenberg, D. Henschler, D. Müller, H.-J. Klimisch (eds.), BGA-Schriften 5/84, Problems in inhalation toxicity studies. MVV-Verlag München, pp. 439 - 451 (1984)
- Heinrich, U., Wilhelm, A.: Lung function tests on hamsters and rats using the whole body plethysmograph. In: R. Bass, P. Grosdanoff, U. Hackenberg, D. Henschler, D. Müller, H.-J. Klimisch (eds.), BGA-Schriften 5/84, Problems in inhalation toxicity studies. MVV-Verlag München, pp. 255 - 266 (1984)
- Heinrich, U., Muhle, H., Koch, W., Mohr, U.: Long-term inhalation studies with rodents. In: F. Homburger (ed.) Safety Evaluation and Regulation of Chemicals, Second International Conference, Cambridge, Mass., USA; Karger Verlag, Basel, pp. 239 - 250 (1985)

- Heinrich, U., Pott, F., Mohr, U. and Stöber, W.: Experimental methods for the detection of the carcinogenicity and/or cocarcinogenicity of inhaled polycyclic-aromatic-hydrocarbon-containing emissions. In: Mass, M.J., Kaufmann, D.G., Siegfried, J.M., Steele, V.E., Nesnow, St. (eds.) Carcinogenesis - A Comprehensive Survey, Vol.8, Cancer of the Respiratory Tract: Predisposing Factors, Raven Press, New York, pp. 131 - 146 (1985)
- Ahland, E., Borneff, J., Brune, H., Grimmer, G., Habs, M., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Hermann, P., Misfeld, J., Mohr, U., Pott, F., Schmähl, D., Thyssen, J., Timm, J.: Luftverschmutzung und Krebs. Prüfung von Schadstoffen aus verschiedenen Emissionsquellen auf ihre krebserzeugende Wirkung. Münch. Med. Wschr. 127, pp. 218 - 221 (1985)
- Heinrich, U., Pott, F., Mohr, U., Fuhst, R. and König, J.: Lung tumours in rats and mice after inhalation of PAH-rich emissions. Exp. Pathol. 29, 29 - 34 (1986)
- Grimmer, G., Abel, U., Brune, H., Deutsch-Wenzel, R., Emura, M., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Jacob, J., Kemena, A., Misfeld, J., Mohr, U., Norpoth, K., Pott, F. and Richter-Reichhelm, H.-B.: Evaluation of environmental carcinogens by carcinogenspecific test systems. Exp. Pathol. 29, 65 - 76 (1986)
- Heinrich, U., Muhle, H., Takenaka, S., Ernst, H., Fuhst, R., Mohr, U., Pott, F. and Stöber, W.: Chronic effects on the respiratory tract of hamsters, mice and rats after long-term inhalation of high concentrations of filtered and unfiltered diesel engine emissions. J. Appl. Toxicol. 6(6), 383 - 395 (1986)
- Heinrich, U., Pott, F., Rittinghausen, S.: Comparison of chronic inhalation effects in rodents after long-term exposure to either coal oven flue gas mixed with pyrolized pitch or diesel engine exhaust. In: N. Ishinishi, A. Koizumi, R.O. McClellan and W. Stöber (eds.) Carcinogenic and mutagenic effects of diesel engine exhaust. Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam, pp. 441 - 457 (1986)
- Heinrich, U., Pott, F. and Mohr, U.: Experimental lung tumors after inhalation of PAH-containing emissions. In: Aerosols: Formation and Reactivity. Pergamon Press, pp. 286 - 289 (1986)

- Heinrich. U., Pott, F., Dasenbrock, C., König, H., Peters, L., Takenaka, S.: Carcinogenicity studies in rats, hämsters and mice using various cadmium compounds Preliminary results -. In: Aerosols: Formation and Reactivity. Pergamon Press, pp. 290 294 (1986)
- Heinrich, U., Peters, L., Mohr, U., Bellmann, B., Fuhst, R., Ketkar, M.B., König, J., König, H., Pott, F.: Untersuchungen zur subakuten und chronischen Wirkung von Ottomotorabgasen auf den Säugetierorganismus. FAT Schriftenreihe Nr. 55, Forschungsvereinigung Automobiltechnik eV (FAT), Frankfurt/M., p. 141 (1986)
- Pott, F., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Dieselmotorabgas und Lungenkrebs Tierexperimentelle Daten und ihre Bewertung im Hinblick auf die Gefährdung des Menschen. In: Umwelthygiene, Band 19, Jahresbericht des Medizinischen Instituts für Umwelthygiene 1986/87, Düsseldorf, Verlag: Stefan W. Albers, 4 Düsseldorf 13 pp. 130 - 167 (1987)
- Heinrich, U.: Carcinogenicity of cadmium Overview of experimental and epidemiological results and their influence on recommendations for maximum concentrations in the occupational area. M. Stoeppler, M. Piscatior (Eds.), Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, pp. 13 - 25 (1988)
- Oldiges, H., <u>Heinrich</u>, U. and Glaser, U.: Inhalation research with different cadmium compounds on Wistar rats, Syrian golden hamsters and NMRI mice. In: Environmental Toxin Series 2, Cadmium. M.Stoeppler. M.Piscator (Eds.), Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, pp. 33 - 38 (1988)
- Muhle, H., Bellmann, B., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Overloading of lung clearance during chronic exposure of experimental animals to particles. In: Dodgson, J., Mc Callum, R.I., Bailey, M.R. and Fisher, D.R. (eds) Inhaled Particles VI, Ann. occup. Hyg. 32, 141 - 147, Supplement 1 (1988)
- Heinrich, U.: Tierexperimentelle Daten über die tumorinduzierende Wirkung von Dieselmotorabgasen und ihre Bedeutung für den Menschen. FhG-Berichte 1-88, Umwelt: Heft I, pp. 31 – 37, 1988, ISSN 0342-1953, Hrsg.: Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der angewandten Forschung e.V., München (1988)

- Pott, F., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Neue Erkenntnisse über die krebserzeugende Wirkung von Dieselmotorabgas. Z. gesamte Hyg. 34(12), 673 - 744 (1988)
- Grimmer G., Brune H., Dettbarn G., <u>Heinrich</u> U., Jacob J., Mohtashamipur E., Norpoth K., Pott F. and Wenzel-Hartung R.: Urinary and faecal excretion of chrysen and chrysene metabolites by rats after oral, intraperitoneal, intratracheal or intrapulmonary application. Arch. Toxicol. 62, 401 - 405 (1988)
- Heinrich, U., Mohr, U., Fuhst, R. and Brockmeyer, C.: Investigation of a potential cotumorigenic effect of the dioxides of nitrogen and sulfur, and of diesel-engine exhaust, on the respiratory tract of Syrian golden hamsters. Research Report No. 26, p. 34, Health Effects Institute, Cambridge, MA, 02142, USA (1989)
- Brockmeyer, C., Thiedemann, K.-U., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Emura, M., Mohr, U.: Spontaneous lesions in the respiratory epithelium of the Syrian golden hamster as seen by scanning electron microscopy. Exp. Pathol. 36(4), 247 254 (1989)
- Brockmeyer, C., Thiedemann, K.-U., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Mohr, U.: Light and scanning electron microscopic investigation of the laryngeal mucosa of Syrian golden hamster. Exp. Pathol. 36(4), 237 - 245 (1989)
- Thiedemann, K.-U., Lüthe, N., Paulini, I., Kreft, A., <u>Heinrich</u>, U. and Glaser, U.: Ultrastructural observations in hamster and rat lungs after chronic inhalation of cadmium compounds. Exp. Pathol. 37, 264 - 268 (1989)
- Heinrich, U., Muhle, H., Hoymann, H.G., Mermelstein, R.: Pulmonary function changes in rats after chronic and subchronic inhalation exposure to various particulate matter. Exp. Pathol. 37, 248 - 252 (1989)
- Heinrich, U., Peters, L., Fuhst, R. and Mohr, U.: The effect of automotive exhaust exposure on the carcinogenicity of dipentylnitrosamine (DPN) in the respiratory tract of rats. Exp. Pathol. 37, 51 - 55 (1989)
- Heinrich, U., Peters, L., Ernst, H., Rittinghausen, S., Dasenbrock, C. and König, H.: Investigation on the carcinogenic effects of various cadmium compounds after inhalation exposure in hamsters and mice. Exp. Pathol. 37, 253 - 258 (1989)

- Heinrich, U., Fuhst, R., Peters, L., Muhle, H., Dasenbrock, C. and Pott, F.: Comparative long-term animal inhalation studies using various particulate matter: objectives, experimental design and preliminary results. Exp. Pathol. 37, 27 31 (1989)
- Heinrich, U.: Exhaust-specific effects of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH)
  and their significance for the estimation of the exhaust exposure-related lung
  cancer risk. In: Bates, D.V., Dungworth, D.L., Lee, P.N., McClellan, R.O., Roe, F.J.C.
  (eds.) Assessment of inhalation hazards: integration and extrapolation using
  diverse data. Springer-Verlag Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 301 313 (1989)
- Jacob, J., Brune, H., Dettbarn, D., Grimmer, G., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Mohtashamipur, E., Norpoth, K., Pott, F. and Wenzel-Hartung, R.: Urinary and faecal excretion of pyrene and hydroxypyrene by rats after oral, intraperitoneal, intratracheal or intrapulmonary application. Cancer Letters 46, 15 - 20 (1989)
- Pott, F., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Relative significance of different hydrocarbons for the carcinogenic potency of emissions from various incomplete combustion processes. In: Vainio, H., Sorsa, M. & McMichael, A.J.(eds) Complex Mixtures and Cancer Risk. IARC Scientific Publications No. 104, pp. 288 - 297 (1990)
- Aufderheide, M., Mohr, U., Thiedemann, K.-U. and <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Quantification of hyperplastic areas in hamster lungs after chronic inhalation of different cadmium compounds. Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry 27, 173 - 180 (1990)
- Muhie, H., Bellmann, B., Creutzenberg, O., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Ketkar, M. and Mermelstein, R.: Dust overloading of lungs after exposure of rats to particles of low solubilty: comparative studies. J. Aerosol Sci. 21, 374 - 377 (1990)
- Muhle, H., Creutzenberg, C., Bellmann, B., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Mermelstein, R.: Dust overloading of lungs: Investigations of various materials, species differences and irreversibility of effects. J. Aerosol Med., Vol. 3, Suppl. 1, pp.111 - 128 (1990)

- Creutzenberg, O. Bellmann, U., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Fuhst, R., Koch, W. and Muhle,
   H.: Clearance and retention of inhaled diesel exhaust particles, carbon black, and
   titanium dioxide in rats at lung overload conditions. J. Aerosol Sci. 21(1), pp. 455 458 (1990)
- Rittinghausen, S., Aufderheide, M., Ernst, H., Dasenbrock, C., Fuhst, R., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Peters, L., Mohr, U.: Histological observations and morphometric analysis in lungs of hamsters after long term inhalation of cadmium compounds. In: Colley, Ph., Poirier, L.A., Manfaint, M., Etienne, J.-C. (eds) Metals ions in biology and medicine. John Libbey, London, pp. 203 205 (1990)
- Thiedemann, K.-U., Kreft, A., Abel, U., Dasenbrock, C., Fuhst, R., Peters, L., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Mohr, U.: Qualitative and quantitative ultratsructural investigations in hamster lungs after chronic inhalation of cadmium compounds. In: Collery, Ph., Poirier, L.A., Manfaint, M., Etienne, J.-C. (eds.) Metal ions in bi-ology and medicine. John Libbey, London, pp. 206 - 208 (1990)
- Thiedemann, K.-U., Lüthe, N., Kreft, A., Abel, U., Heinrich, U., Glaser, U.: Ultrastructure of hamster and rat lungs after chronic inhalation exposure to cadmium compounds. In Peachy, L.D., Williams, D.B. (eds.) Electronmicroscopy 1990. Proceedings of the XIIth International Congress on Electronmicroscopy. pp. 286 287 (1990)
- Jacob, J., Brune, H., Grimmer, G., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Mohtashamipur, E., Norpoth, K., Pott, F., Wenzel-Hartung, R.: Urinary and faecal excretion of metabolites after various modes of administration of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) to rats. In: Environmental Hygiene II, Seemayer, N.H., Hadnagy, W. (eds.), Springer-Verlag, pp. 87 - 90 (1990)
- Pott, F. und <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Dieselmotor-Emissionen. In: Wichmann, H.E., Schlipköter, H.W., Fülgraff, G. (Hrsg.), Handbuch der Umweltmedizin, ECOMED Verlag, pp. 1 - 15 (1990)
- Heinrich, U.: Lungenkrebs durch Dieselmotorabgase: Stand der Forschung. Weltgesundheit 2, pp. 20 - 23 (1991)

- Heinrich, U.: Gesundheitliche Wirkung der Dieselabgasemission: Stand der Forschung. VDI Berichte 885 "Abgas- und Geräuschemissionen von Nutzfahrzeugen", pp. 1 – 10, VDI Verlag GmbH, Düsseldorf (1991)
- Heinrich, U., Pott, F., Roller, M.: Polyzyklische aromatische Kohlenwasserstoffe -Tierexperimentelle Ergebnisse und epidemiologische Befunde zur Risiko-Abschätzung. VDI-Berichte Nr. 888, pp. 71 - 92 (1991)
- Heinrich, U.: The carcinogenic potential of exhaust gases from Diesel and gasoline engines In: TÖV Rheinland (Hrsg.) The Diesel Egine - Energy Stake and Environmental Constraints - International Seminar, Cologne, 22 - 23 May 1991 (Proceedings), pp. 83 - 104 (1991)
- König, H.P., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Kock, H. and Peters, L.: Photocorrosion of cadmium sulfide suspensions applied in animal inhalation studies. 3th Vol. Environmental Hygiene, Springer Verlag, pp. 117 - 120 (1992)
- König, H.P., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Kock, H. and Peters, L.: Effect of photocorrosion on cadmium sulfide suspensions applied in animal inhalation studies with CdS particles. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 22, 30 - 35 (1992)
- 66. <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Fuhst, R. und Mohr, U.: Tierexperimentelle Inhalalationsstudien zur Frage der tumorinduzierenden Wirkung von Dieselmotorabgasen und zwei Teststäuben. In: GSF-Forschungszentrum mbH, Neuherberg und Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH (Hrsg.), Auswirkungen von Dieselmotorabgasen auf die Gesundheit. GSF, München, pp. 21 30 (1992)
- Heinrich, U.: Das kanzerogene Potential von Luftschadstoffen Die Bedeutung von Kfz-Abgasen. In: VDI Berichte Nr. 952, Umweltschutz in Städten, pp. 65 - 81 (1992)

- Heinrich, U.: Lung carcinogenicity of cadmium compounds in experimental animals. In: Cook, M.E., Hiscock, S.A, Morrow, H. and Volpe, R.A. (eds.) Edited Proceedings, 7th International Cadmium Conference, 6. - 8. April 1992, New Orleans, USA, pp. 135 - 138 (1992)
- Heinrich, U.: Pulmonary carcinogenicity of cadmium by inhalation in animals. In: Nordberg, G.F., Herber, R.F.M., Alessio, L. (eds.) Cadmium in the Human Environment: Toxicity and Carcinogenicity. IARC Scientific Publications No. 118, pp. 405 - 413 (1992)
- Thiedemann, K.-U., Paulini, I., Lüthe, N., Kreft, A., Abel, U., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Glaser, U., and Mohr, U.: Regeneration, differentiation, and neoplastic transformation of type II alveolar epithelial cells. In: Advances in Controlled Clinical Inhalation Studies. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg, pp. 185 197 (1993)
- Klingebiel, R., Winkeler, H.D., Drenk, F. and <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Assessment of pollutant-induced inpairment of the pulmonary surfactant system by HPLC. In: Mohr, U., Bates, D.V., Fabel, H., Utell, M.J. (eds.) Advances in Controlled Clinical Inhalation Studies. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 337 - 344 (1993)
- Klingebiel, R., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Does the pulmonary surfactant system yield meaningful parameters in inhalation toxicity studies? A review. In: Mohr, U., Bates, D.V., Fabel, H., Utell, M.J. (eds.) Advances in Controlled Clinical Inhalation Studies.
   Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 209 234 (1993)
- Grimmer, G., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Jacob, J., Dettbarn, G. and Naujack, K.-W.: Differences in the Phenanthrene metabolism of tumor-free and tumor-bearing rats. Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons, Vol. 3 (Supplement), 961 - 968 (1993)
- Nolte, T., Thiedemann, K.-U., Dungworth, D.L., Ernst, H., Paulini, I., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Dasenbrock, C., Peters, L., Ueberschär, S., Mohr, U.: Morphology and histogenesis of squamous cell metaplasia of the rat lung after chronic exposure to a pyrolized pitch condensate and/or carbon black, or to combinations of pyro-lized pitch condensate, carbon black and iritant gases. Experimental and Toxicologic Pathology 45, 135 - 144 (1993)

- 75. Pott, F., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Polyzyklische aromatische Kohlenwasserstoffe (PAH). In: Ministerium fnr Umwelt, Raumordnung und Landwirtschaft des Landes Nord-rhein-Westfalen, Düsseldorf (Hrsg.) Krebsrisiko durch Luftverunreinigungen. Entwicklung von "Beurteilungsmaßstäben für kanzerogene Luftverunreinigungen" im Auftrag der Umweltministerkonferenz. Länderausschuß für Immissionschutz (LAI). Materialienband, Band II, Kapitel 9, 88 Seiten (1993)
- 76. Pott, F., Heinrich, U., Roller, M.: Dieselmotor-Emissionen. In: Ministerium f
  ür Umwelt, Raumordnung und Landwirtschaft des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen, D
  üsseldorf (Hrsg.) Krebsrisikio durch Luftverunreinigungen. Entwicklungen von 
  "Beurteilungsmaßst
  äben f
  ür kanzerogene Luftverunreinigungen" im Auftrag der 
  Umweltministerkonferenz. L
  änderausschuß f
  ür Immissionschutz (LAI). Materialienband, Band II, Kapitel 8, 77 Seiten (1993)
- Schulte, A., Ernst, H., Peters, L., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Induction of squamous cell carcinoma in the mouse lung after long-term inhalation of polycylic aromatic hydrocarbon-rich exhausts. Exp. Toxic. Pathol. 45, 415 421 (1993/94)
- Heinrich, U., Dungworth, D., Pott, F., Schulte, A., Peters, L., Dasenbrock, C., Levsen, K., Koch, W., Creutzenberg, O.: The carcinogenic effects of carbon black particles and tar/pitch condensation aerosol after inhalation exposure of rats.
   British Occupational Hygiene Society, 7th International Symposium on Inhaled Particles, 16 - 20 September 1991, Edinburgh. The Annals of Occupational Hygiene, Vol. 38, Supplement 1, 351 - 356 (1994)
- Pott, F., Dungworth, D.L., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Muhle, H., Kamino, K., German, P.-G., Roller, M., Rippe, R.M.: Lung tumors in rats after intratracheal instillations of dusts. British Occupational Hygiene Society, 7th International Syposium on Inhaled Particles, 16 - 20 September 1991, Edinburgh. The Annals of Occupational Hygiene, Vol. 38, Supplement 1, 357 - 363 (1994)
- Heinrich, U.: Carcinogenic effects of solid particles. In: Mohr, U., Dungworth, D.L., Mauderly, J.L., Oberdörster, G. (eds.) Toxic and Carcinogenic Effects of Solid Particles in the Respiratory Tract, ILSI Press, Washington, D.C. pp. 58 - 73 (1994)

- Heinrich, U., Peters, L. Creutzenberg, O., Dasenbrock, C., Hoymann, H.-G.: Inhalation exposure of rats to tar/pitch condensation aerosol or carbon black alone or in combination with irritant gases. In: Mohr, U., Dungworth, D.L., Mauderly, J.L., Oberdörster, G. (eds.) Toxic and Carcinogenic Effects of Solid Particles in the Respirartory Tract. ILSI Press, Washington, D.C. pp. 433 - 441 (1994)
- Dungworth, D.L., Mohr, U., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Ernst, H., Kittel, B.: Pathologic effects of inhaled particles in rat lungs: Associations between inflammatory and neoplastic processes. In: Mohr, U., Dungworth, D.L., Mauderly, J.L., Oberdörster, G. (eds.) Toxic and Carcinogenic Effects of Solid Particles in the Respiratory Tract, ILSI Press, Washington, D.C. pp. 75 - 98 (1994)
- Heinrich, U., Roller, M., Pott, F.: Estimation of a lifetime unit lung cancer risk for benzo(a)pyrene (BaP) based on tumour rates in rats exposed to coal tar/pitch condensation aerosol. Toxicology Letters 72, 155 - 161 (1994)
- Nolte, T., Thiedeman, K.-U., Dungworth, D.L., Ernst, H., Paulini, I., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Dasenbrock, C., Peters, L., Ueberschär, S., Mohr, U.: Histological and ultrastructural alterations of bronchio-alveolar region in the rat lung after chronic exposure to a pyrolized pitch condensate or carbon black, alone or in combination. Inhalation Toxicology 6(5), 459 - 483 (1994)
- Creutzenberg, O., Bellmann, B., Klingebiel, R., Heinrich, U., and Muhle, H.: Phagocytosis and chemotaxis of rat alveolar macrophages after a combined or separate exposure to ozone and carbon black. In: Mohr, U., Dungworth, D.L., Mauderly, J.L., Oberdörster, G. (eds.) Toxic and Carcinogenic Effects of Solid Particles in the Respiratory Tract, ILSI Press, Washington, D.C. USA, pp. 549 - 552 (1994)
- Hoymann, H.G., Heinrich, U., Beume, R. and Kilian, U.: Comparative investigation of the effect of zadaverine and theophylline on pulmonary function in rats. Experimental Lung Research 20, 235 - 250 (1994)

- Klingebiel, R., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Martin-Carrera, I., Dettmer, M., Kühn, A. and Bartsch, W.: Effects of single and combined subchronic exposure to ozone and soot particles on pulmonary surfactant phospholipids and associated protein A and on surface activity in rat lung lavage fluid. In: Mohr, U., Dungworth, D.L., Mauderly, J.L., Oberdörster, G. (eds.) Toxic and Carcinogenic Effects of Solid Particles in the Respiratory Tract, ILSI Press, Washington D.C., USA, pp. 541 544 (1994)
- Gallagher, J., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., George, M., Hendee, L., Phillips, D., and Lewtas, J.: Formation of DNA adducts in rat lung following chronic inhalation of diesel emissions, carbon black and titanium dioxide particles. Carcinogenesis 15(7), 1291 - 1299 (1994)
- Flüge, T., Hoymann, H.-G., Hohlfeld, J., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Fabel, H., Wagner, T.O.F., Forssmann, W.-G.: Type A natriuretic peptides exhibit different bronchoprotective effects in rats. European Journal of Pharmacology 271, 395 - 402 (1994)
- Heinrich, U.: Krebsrisiken durch Benzol und Dieselruß. In: Informationstag "Gesundheitliche Risiken durch den KfZ-Verkehr", 25. Juni 1994, Ministerium für Arbeit, Gesundheit und Sozialordnung, Baden-Württemberg, pp. 85 - 102 (1994)
- Heinrich, U., Fuhst, R., Rittinghausen, S., Creutzenberg, O., Bellmann, B., Koch, W., Levsen, K.: Chronic inhalation exposure of Wistar rats, and two strains of mice to diesel engine exhaust, carbon black and titanium dioxide. Inhalation Toxicology 7, 533 - 556 (1995)
- Sepai, O., Schütze, D., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., Hoymann, H.G., Henschler, D., Sabbioni, G.: Hemoglobin adducts and urine metabolites of 4,4'-methylene-dianiline after 4,4'-methylenediphenyl diisocyanate exposure of rats. Chemico-Biological Interactions 97, 185 - 198 (1995)
- Creutzenberg, O., Bellmann, B., Klingebiel, R., <u>Heinrich</u>, U., and Muhle, H.: Phagocytosis and chemotaxis of rat alveolar macrophages after a combined or separate exposure to ozone and carbon black. Exp. Toxic. Pathol. 47, 202 - 206 (1995)
- Heinrich, U.: Comparative Response to particles among rats, mice and hamsters. Inhalation Toxicology 8 (suppl.), 51 - 71 (1996)

- Vock, E.H., Hoymann, H.-G., <u>Heinrich</u>, U. and Lutz, W.K.: <sup>32</sup>P-Postlabeling of a DNA adduct derived from 4,4'-methylenedianiline (MDA), in the olfactory epithelium of rats exposed by inhalation to 4,4'-methylenediphenyl diisocyanate (MDI). Carcinogenesis 17, 1069 - 1073 (1996)
- Dasenbrock, C., Peters, L., Creutzenberg, O., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: The carcinogenic potency of carbon particles with and without PAH after repeated intratracheal administration in the rat. Toxicology Letters 88, 15 - 21 (1996)
- Buschmann, J., Koch, W., Fuhst, R., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Embryotoxicity study of monomeric 4,4'-methylenediphenyl diisocyanate (MDI) aerosol after inhalation exposure in wistar rats. Fundamental Applied Toxicology 32, 96 101 (1996)
- Hohlfeld, J., Hoymann, H.G., Molthan, J., Fabel, H., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Aerosolized surfactant inhibits acetylcholine-induced airway obstruction in rats. Eur. Res. J. 10, 2198 - 2203 (1997)
- Rühle, T., Schneider, H., Find., J., Herein, D., Pfänder, N., Wild, U., Schlögl, R., Nachtigall, D., Artelt, S., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Preparation and characterisation of Pt/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> aerosol precursors as model Pt-emissions from catalytic converters. Applied Catalysis, B: Environmental 14, 69 - 84, (1997)
- Hoymann, H.G., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Measurement of lung function in rodents in vivo, Chapter I, In: Uhlig, S., Taylor, A.E. (eds.) Methods in Pulmonary Research, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, pp. 1 - 28 (1998)
- 101. Ernst, H., Hoymann, H.G., Rittinghausen, S., Mohr, U., and <u>Heinrich. U.</u>, Pulmonary lesions in wistar rats associated with chronic inhalation of to 4,4'methylen diphenyl-diisocyanate (MDI). In: Mohr, U., Dungworth, D.L., Brain, J.D., Driscoll, K.E., Grafström, R.C., and Harris, C.C. (eds.) Relationships Between Respiratory Disease and Exposure to Air, ILSI Press, Washington, D.C. USA, pp. 320 - 324 (1998)

- 102. Hoymann, H.G., Creutzenberg, O., Ernst, H., Hohlfeld, J., and <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Lung funktion changes in rats after chronic inhalation exposure to 4,4'-methylen diphenyl diisocyanate (MDI). In: Mohr, U., Dungworth, D.L., Brain, J.D., Driscoll, K.E., Grafström, R.C., and Harris, C.C. (eds.) Relationships Between Respiratory Disease and Exposure to Air, ILSI Press, Washington, D.C. USA, pp. 353 356 (1998)
- 103. Rittinghausen, S., Dasenbrock, C., Ernst, H., Mohr, U., and <u>Heinrich, U.</u>: Cystic squamous cell tumors in the lungs of rats and syrian hamsters induced by coal oven flue exhaust in combination with benzo(a)pyrene. In: Mohr, U., Dungworth, D.L., Brain, J.D., Driscoll, K.E., Grafström, R.C., and Harris, C.C. (eds.) Relationships Between Respiratory Disease and Exposure to Air, ILSI Press, Washington, D.C. USA, pp. 399 402 (1998)
- Heinrich, U.: Ultrafeine Partikeln. In: Hauptverband der gewerblichen Berufsgenossenschaften (HVBG) Sankt Augustin (ed.) BIA-Report 4/98 Symposium "Grenzwerte für chemische Einwirkungen an Arbeitsplätzen", Hennef, 5.-6. Februar 1998, ISBN 3-88383-497-1, S. 163 - 174 (1998)
- Artelt, S., Kock, H., Nachtigall, D., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Bioavailability of platinum emitted from automobile exhaust. Toxicology Letters 96,97, pp. 163 - 167 (1998)
- Heinrich, U.: Wirkungsmechanismus von schwerlöslichen Feinstäuben und Ultrafeinstäuben. 1. Jahrestagung der ISEM - 1998, Gießen, 28.-30.8.1998. Umweltmedizin in Forschung und Praxis 4, S 189-190 (1998)
- Heinrich, U.: Ultrafeine Aerosol-Teilchen, deren Agglomerate und Aggregate. In: Greim, H. (ed.) Gesundheitsschädliche Arbeitsstoffe. Toxikologisch-arbeitsmedizinische Begründungen von MAK-Werten (Maximale Arbeitsplatz-Konzentration), Sonderdruck Aerosole - Ultrafeine Teilchen, Wiley-VCH, 27. Lieferung 1998, ISSN 0930-1984, S. 1 - 4 (1998)
- Heinrich U., Boehncke, A., Mangelsdorf, I.: Influence of Number and Size of Particles on the Health Risk from Diesel and Otto Engine Exhaust. 2<sup>nd</sup> International Colloquium, 20 - 21 January 1999, Fuels 1999. Bartz, W. (Hrsg.) Technische Akademie Esslingen (1999)
- Artelt, S., Creutzenberg, O., Koch, H., Levsen, K., Nachtigall, D., <u>Heinrich</u>, U.: Bioavailability of fine dispersed platinum as emitted from automotive catalytic converters: A model study. Science of the Total Environment 228, S. 219-242 (1999)











